IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 16-2148

ROBERT W. MILAS, M.D.,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

SOCIETY INSURANCE and ANGELA BONLANDER,

Defendants-Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR SCOTT COUNTY HONORABLE HENRY LATHAM Scott County No. LACE124179

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Anthony J. Bribriesco Andrew W. Bribriesco William J. Bribriesco 2407 18th Street, Suite 200 Bettendorf, Iowa 52722

Ph.: 563-359-8266 Fax: 563-359-5010

Email: Anthony@Bribriescolawfirm.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

PROOF OF SERVICE AND CERTIFICATE OF FILING

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

This appeal arises from a jury trial involving Robert Milas, M.D., ("Plaintiff" or "Dr. Milas") against a workers' compensation insurance company, Defendant Society Insurance Company, ("Defendant" or "Society Insurance") and Society Insurance's representative, Defendant Angela Bonlander. The jury found that Dr. Milas had a legally enforceable agreement with Society Insurance to pay Dr. Milas for a surgical procedure he performed on an injured employee, Ricky Fitzgerald, and that Society Insurance breached this agreement when it did not pay Dr. Milas the agreed upon amount. Dr. Milas has appealed the district court's rulings to limit the case to

a breach-of-contract case when Plaintiff had requested jury instructions on fraudulent misrepresentation and punitive damages. Dr. Milas also appeals the trial judge's refusal to recuse himself from hearing this case. The district court's errors resulted in prejudice to the Plaintiff and require remand for a new trial to a different trial judge.

II. Relevant Agency Proceedings

Rickey Fitzgerald filed an Application for Alternate Care with the Iowa Workers' Compensation Agency because he was dissatisfied with the medical care he was being provided. App. 252. Fitzgerald requested that Dr. Milas become the authorized treating surgeon and this request was granted. *Id*.

III. Relevant Proceedings in District Court

On October 14, 2015, Defendants filed a motion for summary judgment. At that time, there were two Plaintiffs, Dr. Milas and Ricky Fitzgerald, and Plaintiffs resisted. On February 16, 2016, the district court, the Honorable Nancy Tabor, denied the summary judgment motion regarding Fitzgerald's bad faith claim against Defendant Society Insurance and claim for punitive damages. App. 97-100.

Regarding Dr. Milas's claims, the district court denied the summary judgment motion regarding Dr. Milas's contract claim and negligent misrepresentation claim. App. 101-103. However, the district court granted

summary judgment on Dr. Milas's fraudulent misrepresentation claim. *Id.* The district court determined there was substantial evidence to create a jury question on the following elements: representation, falsity, materiality, and scienter. App. 101-102. However, the district court concluded there was not substantial evidence of the intent-to-deceive element of Dr. Milas's fraudulent misrepresentation claim. *Id.*

In determining the evidence in this case would not support a finding of these elements, the district court stated: "There simply is no evidence to suggest that Ms. Bonlander or Society intended to deceive Dr. Milas when she signed the estimate and authorization of surgery." *Id*.

On February 28, 2016, Ricky Fitzgerald had resolved his claim and dismissed his bad faith claim.

On February 29, 2016, Judge Henry Latham presided over the jury trial between Dr. Milas versus Society Insurance and its employee, Angela Bonlander. On March 1, 2016, Plaintiff's Counsel began his opening statement, and Defense Counsel made a motion for a mistrial in front of the jury. App. 262. Plaintiff's Counsel asked Judge Latham to respond. *Id.* Judge Latham said "No" in an angry voice and excused the jury. *Id.* Judge Latham then granted Defendants' counsel's motion for mistrial. *Id.*

On March 2, 2016, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Recuse Judge Latham. App 159-62. Defendants resisted this Motion, and Judge Latham denied it. App. 163-166, 282-311.

On May 17, 2016, Plaintiff filed an application for interlocutory appeal on his motion to recuse Judge Latham. Plaintiff's application for interlocutory appeal was denied.

On October 13, 2016, Defendants renewed their motion for summary judgment regarding Dr. Milas's negligent misrepresentation claim. Defendants filed this motion after the deadline set forth in the trial scheduling order. App. 106-09. Plaintiff filed a motion to dismiss the renewed motion for summary judgment based on it was untimely, App. 110-12, and filed a resistance on the merits, App. 113-16. Judge Latham decided to rule on the renewed motion for summary judgment regarding Dr. Milas's claim for negligent misrepresentation. App 134-143.

On October 16, 2016, Plaintiff filed a motion to amend petition to conform to proof. Judge Latham did not wait until the close of evidence to rule on this motion. *Id.* At the same time, Judge Latham denied Plaintiff's motion to amend petition to conform to proof, Judge Latham granted Defendants' renewed motion for summary judgment. *Id.*

During the jury instruction conference, Plaintiff requested Judge Latham to provide additional jury instructions to the jury. App. 440-41, 470-76. Plaintiff's proposed jury instructions included instructions on fraudulent misrepresentation and punitive damages. *Id.* Judge Latham refused to submit these instructions to the jury. Judge Latham stated that: "There has been no evidence presented during the course of trial to the jury that would support those claims." App. 441. Judge Latham stated further:

...It's clear that the Defendants in this case have testified basically that they acted in accordance with how they conduct business on a regular basis. There was nothing intentional that they did towards Dr. Milas....

App. 444.

On November 21, 2016, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the Plaintiff on the breach-of-contract claim. Defendants did not appeal the verdict.

Plaintiff appeals the district court's decision to grant summary judgment on his claim for fraudulent misrepresentation, and then later deny jury instructions this issue. Second, Plaintiff appeals the district court's decision to deny jury instructions on punitive damages. Third, Plaintiff appeals the district court's decision to deny his motion to disqualify Judge Latham.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. Dr. Milas, the authorized surgeon, informed Society Insurance exactly how much he would charge for performing the recommended surgical procedures.

After the Agency ordered that Dr. Milas become the authorized treating surgeon for Fitzgerald, Dr. Milas, a board-certified neurosurgeon, concluded that Fitzgerald needed surgery to his neck and lower back. App. 410-11. For the safety of Fitzgerald, Dr. Milas decided to perform the surgery to the neck first. *Id.* He recommended that his patient undergo a delicate neck surgery. App. 412-419. Generally speaking, this surgery involved cutting through skin and muscles to get to the bones or vertebrae of the neck. *Id.* Then, Dr. Milas would fuse the neck bones together with tiny screws all the while avoiding the spinal cord and arteries that feed the brain stem. *Id.*

Dr. Milas had never dealt with Society Insurance before becoming the authorized treating surgeon for Fitzgerald. App 357. To avoid any confusion, Dr. Milas told Society Insurance exactly how much he charged for performing each of two possible recommended set of surgical procedures. App. 198-99. Dr. Milas faxed his surgical fees to Society Insurance because Dr. Milas

¹Dr. Milas proposed to address Fitzgerald's spinal issues through one of two possible sets of surgical procedures. App. 427-28; App. 198-99. Because he was not sure which method would be required, he sent two proposals to Society Insurance, one for each set of procedures. *Id*.

wanted to know exactly how much he would be paid for his services *before* he performed the surgery. App. 421-23. Dr. Milas requested that Society Insurance's representative approve his surgical fees for both options in writing. App. 198-99, 421-23.

II. Society Insurance unequivocally approved payment of Dr. Milas's fees when its representative signed the proposals.

Angela Bonlander was the adjuster in charge of handling and administering workers' compensation benefits for Society Insurance. App. 319. Bonlander had been working at Society Insurance for over nineteen (19) years, and one of her responsibilities was approving the payment of medical fees. *Id*.

On May 20, 2013, Bonlander received the two requests for approval of surgical fees submitted by Dr. Milas. App. 198-99. Each proposal explained the procedures and set forth the total fee Dr. Milas charged for performing that set of procedures. *Id*.

Bonlander discussed Dr. Milas's surgical fees with her supervisor, Shawn Kelderman. App 323. Kelderman had worked in the insurance industry for decades, App. 361, and she knew that Dr. Milas was seeking "preauthorization" of his fees, App 363. In fact, Kelderman admitted the following at trial.

Q: [The] estimate represented preauthorization, did it not, on what Dr. Milas was going to charge?

A: Yes.

App. 363.

Kelderman had the authority to pay one hundred percent (100%) of Dr. Milas's surgical fees. App. 359-60.² She told Bonlander to "sign off" on both of the proposals. App. 323. Bonlander signed the proposals and sent them back to Dr. Milas. App. 198-99.

III. Society Insurance hid its corporate policy from Dr. Milas.

Bonlander "signed off" on both of the proposals even though she had no intention of honoring the agreement. App. 322, 348. In fact, Bonlander admitted at trial that her intention the whole time was to wait until after Dr. Milas performed surgery and then attempt to negotiate his fees:

Q: You never told Dr. Milas that you intended on negotiating his fees, true?

A: True.

App. 327.

Bonlander signed the proposals without revealing to Dr. Milas that Society Insurance had a corporate "cost-containment" policy. App. 327. That

² Society Insurance designated Kelderman as the corporate representative at the time of deposition and at trial.

corporate policy provided: "All medical bills shall be submitted to our *cost* containment vendor for review and re-pricing, as appropriate." App. 250.

A "cost-containment vendor" is an insurance industry term. App. 266.

A cost-containment vendor is a company that increases an insurance company's profit by recommending that the insurance company pay less or "contain" its costs. App. 393-94. For an insurance company, "costs" include paying medical professionals for their services. *Id*.

Society Insurance had one and only one cost-containment vendor: Health Systems, International ("HSI"). App. 267. Society Insurance had an agreement with HSI that promised HSI twenty-three percent (23%) of the reduction in medical costs that they were able to negotiate with the providers. App. 268-70, 256-57.

Before signing the agreement, Bonlander knew that she was going to send Dr. Milas's fees to Society Insurance's "cost-containment vendor," but never told Dr. Milas about her intentions. App. 327. Bonlander intended on paying whatever Society's "cost-containment vendor" told her to pay Dr. Milas. App. 327, 344.

Society Insurance's employees testified inconsistently on whether Bonlander had the authority to pay Dr. Milas what had been agreed upon. App. 274, 277, 344. Bonlander testified that "it was not her job to question"

the cost-containment vendor. App. 344. However, Society Insurance's vice-president of workers' compensation testified differently: Bonlander had the power to disregard the cost containment vendor's recommendation and pay Dr. Milas what had been agreed upon App. 272 & 274.

Regardless, the evidence is absolutely clear that Bonlander's supervisor, Kelderman, had the authority to disregard the cost-containment vendor. App. 277. The evidence is absolutely clear that Bonlander's supervisor instructed her to sign the agreement with Dr. Milas, App. 323, and Bonlander intended on paying whatever Society's cost-containment vendor told her to pay Dr. Milas, App. 326, 344. Moreover, the evidence is absolutely clear that Bonlander intended on waiting until *after* Dr. Milas performed surgery to negotiate his fees. App. 327.

IV. Society Insurance incentivized its employees to follow its corporate policy of cost-containment with end-of-the-year bonuses.

Bonlander was eligible for an end-of-the-year bonus as an employee of Society Insurance. App. 333-36. Bonlander's supervisor was also eligible for an end-of-the-year bonus. App. 374-377. Their bonus was dependent in part on whether they followed the corporate cost-containment policy in paying workers' compensation claims. App. 373, 375-77, 393 -94.

V. Bonlander waited until after the surgery to contact the company's cost-containment vendor.

Bonlander received Dr. Milas's proposals on or about May 20, 2013. App. 98-99. Each proposal stated that the surgery would be performed on June 3, 2013. *Id.* Thus, Society Insurance had approximately thirteen (13) days to get a recommendation from its cost-containment vendor regarding how much to pay Dr. Milas for his professional services. *Id.*

Society expected its cost-containment vendor to make its recommendation within ten (10) days. App. 273, 380, 250, 332-33. Normally, Society Insurance received the recommendation from its cost-containment vendor in about five days. App. 273. Accordingly, Society Insurance had the ability to find out exactly how much its cost-containment vendor recommended paying Dr. Milas *before* Dr. Milas performed the surgery. App. 273, 332-33.

Bonlander admitted that nothing would have prevented her from sending Dr. Milas's surgical fees to the cost-containment vendor before the surgery:

Q: [Just] so its clear, we can agree that you could have had Dr. Milas's fees audited before you signed Plaintiff's Exhibit 2A?

A: Yes.

App. 333.

However, Bonlander chose to wait until after Dr. Milas performed surgery before finding out the cost-containment vendor's recommendation. App. 247, 333-34, 356.

Bonlander hid from Dr. Milas her intention to submit his bill to the company's cost-containment vendor and to pay whatever that vendor told her to pay Dr. Milas. App. 319, 344.

VI. Dr. Milas performs the surgery.

On June 3, 2013, Dr. Milas performed surgery on Ricky Fitzgerald. App. 201. Dr. Milas decided that the less expensive procedure was better for his patient. App. 420-21. Society Insurance agreed that this was a medically necessary surgery. App. 320-21. Further, Society Insurance admitted that it had no criticisms of the surgery performed by Dr. Milas. App. 321.

Dr. Milas performed this surgery in reliance on Society Insurance's agreement to pay his stated fee for the surgery. App. 429-34. Craig Nierman testified at trial as an expert witness for Dr. Milas. Mr. Nierman had worked as a claims adjuster for approximately seven (7) years. App. 382-83. In addition, Mr. Nierman has taught insurance law at the University of Iowa as an adjunct professor. App. 381-82. Based on his experience, education, and training, Mr. Nierman testified that it was appropriate for Dr. Milas to rely on Society Insurance to fully compensate him for his services after he performed

surgery because Society Insurance's representative approved his surgical fees.

App. 385.

VII. Dr. Milas sends final bill to Society Insurance for the exact amount stated in his proposal.

On June 4, 2013, Dr. Milas sent his bill for the surgery to Society Insurance for payment. App. 200. The final bill was exactly the same amount as the previously submitted proposal for his surgical fees – to the cent. App. 320. The final bill for Dr. Milas's surgical fees was \$14,325.87. App. 200.

VIII. Society Insurance and its agents attempt to negotiate Dr. Milas's surgical fees after he performed surgery.

After the surgery was performed and Dr. Milas had submitted his bill, Society Insurance sent the bill to its cost-containment vendor. App. 247-48. Thereafter, a negotiating company, Knowledgeable Provider Negotiators Services (hereinafter "the Negotiators"), faxed a "resolution agreement" with the caption "Negotiation of Workers' Compensation Charges" to Dr. Milas on June 25, 2013. App. 229-30.

The Negotiators recommended that Dr. Milas accept \$4,604.99 even though the signed proposal listed \$14,325.87 as the fee for the surgical procedures. *Id.* The Negotiators did not provide a reason for its suggested reduction of Dr. Milas's fees. *Id.* The Negotiators did however warn Dr. Milas

that he should accept the reduced fees in order to "avoid further bill review and any audit reductions." App. 229.

Society Insurance's "audit guidelines" provide a reason why the Negotiators told Dr. Milas to accept a reduction in his fees. App. 251. Society Insurance's guidelines for its adjuster's state: "If our Bill Review Company is unable to secure savings on your bill; as [sic] it is cost effective to do so, consider negotiating a reduced rate in exchange for prompt payment"! *Id.* In other words, if Dr. Milas did not accept the Negotiators' offer, he could expect further delay in payment and additional reductions.

Dr. Milas declined the Negotiator's offer, App. 231, and true to the Negotiators' warning, there was a "further bill review" and further "audit reductions." App. 247-48. On July 12, 2013, HSI performed a bill review audit and further reduced Dr. Milas's bill. *Id.* On July 15, 2013, Society Insurance sent Dr. Milas a check for approximately eleven percent (11%) of the agreed upon amount, \$1,620.52. App. 233.

On July 25, 2013, Dr. Milas wrote a letter to Society Insurance requesting that Society Insurance honor their agreement. App. 232. Bonlander received this letter, App. 349, yet, Bonlander chose not to respond to Dr. Milas. App. 357.

IX. Application of Society Insurance's corporate policy.

As mentioned above, Society Insurance had an agreement with HSI that promised HSI twenty-three percent (23%) of the reduction in medical costs that they were able to negotiate with the providers. App. 268-70; App 256-57. Society Insurance's corporate policy of cost-containment would have applied in the following way to Dr. Milas's final bill for \$14,325.87:

Society Insurance:	\$9,783.12
Cost-Containment Vendor:	\$2,922.23
Dr. Milas:	\$1,620.52

Society Insurance reviewed Dr. Milas's fees of \$14,325.87 and paid approximately eleven percent (11%) of the fees, and consequently, Society Insurance saved \$9,783.12. App. 198, 233, 247, 393-94.

Society Insurance's choice to reduce the payment of Dr. Milas's fees for this surgery resulted in a delay in surgery to Mr. Fitzgerald's back. App. 410-11. Society Insurance's choice to reduce the payment of Dr. Milas's fees also resulted in Fitzgerald losing the doctor he had fought so hard to get. App. 426.

X. Society Insurance lacked a reasonable basis to deny paying one hundred percent (100%) of Dr. Milas's surgical fees.

Bonlander gave a statement *under oath* that was completely inaccurate. App. 324-27, 235-366. In her Interrogatory answer, Bonlander stated that Society Insurance did not pay one hundred percent (100%) of his fees because "Dr. Milas has to utilize a fee schedule in Illinois." App. 326, 236. At trial, Bonlander admitted that she knew that the Illinois fee schedule did not apply:

- Q: Under the circumstances, you knew that an Illinois fee schedule didn't apply to an Iowa workers' compensation claim, yes?
- A: Yes
- O: So what's written there is not accurate, is it?
- A: No.

App. 326.

Bonlander made an additional statement *under oath* even though she did not know whether it was true or false. App. 324-27, 235-366. In her Interrogatory answer, Bonlander stated that Society Insurance did not pay one hundred percent (100%) of his fees because "Defendants issued payment for Dr. Milas's bill consistent with the usual and customary charges in his area as reflected by the bill review." App. 326, 236. At trial, Bonlander admitted that she did not actually know what the usual and customary charges were:

Q: That's not accurate either, is it? \$1,620.52, that's not usual and customary for that type of surgery? Can we agree to that?

A: I don't know.

App. 326-27.

XI. Society Insurance treated Dr. Milas differently than other medical professionals.

Society Insurance paid for Ricky Fitzgerald to undergo an evaluation with its medical experts for litigation purposes. App. 353, 242. The medical expert did not provide medical care, rather, he gave medical opinions about medical care. App. 353. Society Insurance paid the medical professional one hundred percent (100%) of the agreed upon fees. App. 353, 242. Society Insurance paid its expert witness more for a one-time evaluation than it tried to pay Dr. Milas for performing a surgery and three months of follow-up care. App. 233, 353.

In addition, Society Insurance promptly paid the anesthesiologist who was present during the surgery performed by Dr. Milas. App. 241, 254, 354. Society Insurance paid the anesthesiologist more than what it paid Dr. Milas even though they were in the same operating room for the same amount of time. App. 241, 254.

ARGUMENT

I. The district court erred in dismissing Plaintiff's fraudulent misrepresentation claim on summary judgment, and then later erred in failing to instruct the jury on Plaintiff's fraudulent misrepresentation claim.

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