IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

CASE NO. 16-2148

Robert W. Milas, M.D., Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

SOCIETY INSURANCE and ANGELA BONLANDER, Defendants-Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR SCOTT COUNTY

HON. HENRY W. LATHAM II (Trial and Motion to Recuse) HON. NANCY S. TABOR (Motion for Summary Judgment)

APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF

GREFE & SIDNEY, P.L.C.
Guy R. Cook AT0001623
Aaron W. Lindebak AT0011917
500 E. Court Ave., Ste. 200
Des Moines, IA 50309
Phone: (515) 245-4300
Fax: (515) 245-4452
gcook@grefesidney.com
alindebak@grefesidney.com
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES SOCIETY INSURANCE AND ANGELA BONLANDER

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

show the Society's earlier representation was false. *See Magnusson Agency v. Pub. Entity Nat'l Co.*, 560 N.W.2d 20, 28 (Iowa 1997) ("Even though PENCO later offered its bid to the second applicant, that fact alone is not enough to show that the earlier representation was false.").

Dr. Milas points to the fact that Angela Bonlander intended to negotiate Dr. Milas's fees and send the bill to HSI. Prior to performing the surgery, Dr. Milas sent two forms to Angela Bonlander listing the estimated charges for Fitzgerald's cervical surgery. These forms specifically indicate the signature requested provides authorization for Dr. Milas to proceed with the surgery. Angela Bonlander testified she understood the form requesting her authorization for Dr. Milas to perform the procedure. App. 338. Angela Bonlander did not believe she was agreeing to pay the exact estimate listed on the form. App. 348. At the time of the material representation, it was unknown which of the two procedures Dr. Milas would perform. Because she did not believe she was entering into a contract paying Dr. Milas the amount listed on the authorization, she could not falsely represent she would pay the bill.

At the time Society Insurance entered into the agreement with Dr. Milas, it was possible for him to receive the amount he put on the authorization.

Without a false material misrepresentation, Dr. Milas's claim of must fail.

B. Society Insurance Did Not Intend to Deceive Dr. Milas.

A fraudulent misrepresentation claim requires scienter and intent to deceive. *Magnusson*, 560 N.W.2d at 28. "Scienter and intent to deceive are closely related elements of the tort, and the same general analysis applies for each." *Van Sickle*, 783 N.W.2d at 688. "Scienter and intent to deceive may be shown when the speaker has actual knowledge of the falsity of his representations or speaks in reckless disregard of whether those representations are true or false." *Id.* (quoting *Garren v. First Realty, Ltd.*, 481 N.W.2d 335, 338 (Iowa 1992)). Dr. Milas cannot show either element.

In the district court's original ruling, the court found no evidence to support Dr. Milas's claim. The district court found "[Dr.] Milas has failed to point out to the Court any evidence in the record that would support an inference that Ms. Bonlander or Society had an intent to deceive him other than Milas's own allegations." App. 102.

In ruling on Dr. Milas's motion to amend to conform to proof, the court again held the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to Dr. Milas, was "not sufficient to establish the elements of scienter and intent to

deceive." App. 141. The fact that Society did not pay the amount sought by the plaintiff is not enough to support an intent to deceive claim. *Lamasters v. Springer*, 99 N.W.2d 300, 303 (Iowa 1959) ("[t]he fact the agreement was not performed does not alone prove the promissor did not intend keeping it when it was made."). The Supreme Court has explained:

When a promise is made in good faith, with the expectation of carrying it out, the fact that it subsequently is broken gives rise to no cause of action, either for deceit, or for equitable relief. Otherwise any breach of contract would call for such a remedy. The mere breach of a promise is never enough in itself to establish the fraudulent intent.

Magnusson, 560 N.W.2d at 29.

At the time Angela Bonlander signed the two documents she did not believe she was entering into a contract to pay for the surgery, only that she was authorizing the surgery to take place. Angela testified she never has preauthorized an amount for surgery and would not do so. App. 337, 348.

Because Society Insurance did not believe it was entering into a contract at the time of the signature, Dr. Milas cannot show a genuine issue of material fact that Society Insurance intended to deceive him. *See Grefe v. Ross*, 231 N.W.2d 863, 867 (Iowa 1975) ("A false statement innocently but mistakenly made will not establish intent to defraud.").

C. Society Insurance Did Not Speak With Reckless Disregard.

Dr. Milas argues Society Insurance spoke with reckless disregard

because Society Insurance could have let Dr. Milas know the bill would be sent to a third-party bill reviewer, "written subject to bill review" on the surgical authorization, or not signed the agreement. Dr. Milas argues Society Insurance's choosing not to clarify its authorization is "clear evidence of scienter and intent to deceive." Appellant Brief p. 34. This is contrary to the standard required. The fact that Angela could have been more careful by making further inquiry is insufficient to show Society Insurance acted in disregard of the truth. *See Garren*, 481 N.W.2d at 338 ("The fact that defendant's agent could have been more careful by making further inquiry is insufficient to prove that she acted in reckless disregard of the truth.").

Because Society Insurance did not speak with reckless disregard, Dr.

Milas has failed to show a genuine issue of material fact on the required element of scienter and his claim must fail.

D. The District Court Did Not Err In Denying to Give Instructions On Fraudulent Misrepresentation.

A district court cannot submit a jury instruction "on an issue having no substantial evidential support." *Thompson v. City of Des Moines*, 564 N.W.2d 839, 846 (Iowa 1997) (citations omitted). Even viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Dr. Milas, the record does not contain sufficient support for the requested instruction. At the time Dr. Milas relied on the Society Insurance signature, Society Insurance had made no false

representation and did not intend to deceive him. Society Insurance did not speak with a reckless disregard for the truth or falseness of the authorization. Instead, Society Insurance believed it was entering into a contract to authorize the surgery only. Without supporting evidence, the district court was correct in denying the requested jury instruction.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ACTED CORRECTLY IN NOT GIVING THE JURY PUNITIVE DAMAGES INSTRUCTIONS.

Scope and Standard of Review

Appellant has preserved error on this issue with the exception of his argument that Society Insurance acted in bad faith. Dr. Milas never alleged bad faith against Society Insurance. Therefore, he has failed to preserve this claim. *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002) ("It is a fundamental doctrine of appellate review that issues must ordinarily be both raised and decided by the district court before we will decide them on appeal.").

The court reviews the failure to give jury instructions for errors at law. *Beyer*, 601 N.W.2d at 38. Punitive damages are discretionary and are never awarded as a matter of right. *Brokaw v. Winfield-Mt. Union Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 788 N.W.2d 386, 395 (Iowa 2010). The district court's failure to give the requested jury instruction warrants reversal only if it resulted in prejudice to Dr. Milas. *Vaughan v. Must, Inc.*, 542 N.W.2d 533, 539 (Iowa 1996).

The purpose of punitive damages are not compensatory, but serve as a punishment or deterrence for future bad conduct. *Miranda v. Said*, 836 N.W.2d 8, 34 (Iowa 2013).

"Generally, a breach of contract, even if intentional, is insufficient to support a punitive damage award." *Magnusson*, 560 N.W.2d at 29 (citing *White v. Nw. Bell Tel. Co.*, 514 N.W.2d 70, 77 (Iowa 1994)). "Considerable logic supports Justice Holmes' observation that '[i]f a contract is broken, the measure of damages generally is the same, whatever the cause of the breach." *Pogge v. Fullerton Lumber Co.*, 277 N.W.2d 916, 919 (Iowa 1979) (quoting *Globe Refining Co. v. Landa Cotton Oil Co.*, 190 U.S. 540, 544, (1903)).

To be awarded punitive damages for a breach of contract, Dr. Milas must show the breach constituted an intentional tort, and was committed maliciously, in a manner that meets the standards of Iowa Code section 668A.1. *Seastrom v. Farm Bureau Life Ins. Co.*, 601 N.W.2d 339, 347 (Iowa 1999). As stated in the previous section, the district court was correct in granting summary judgment on Dr. Milas's fraudulent misrepresentation claim. Because there was no tort, Dr. Milas cannot receive punitive damages.

Even if there were an intentional tort, Dr. Milas failed to prove Society Insurance acted maliciously. There must be some form of malice, actual or legal, to support an award of punitive damages. *Cawthorn v. Catholic Health Initiatives Iowa Corp.*, 743 N.W.2d 525, 529 (Iowa 2007).

"Actual malice may be shown by such things as personal spite, hatred, or ill-will and legal malice may be shown by wrongful conduct committed with a willful or reckless disregard for the rights of another." *Id.* (citations omitted).

Dr. Milas argues Society Insurance acted with actual malice towards him by paying other medical professionals more than Society Insurance paid him. The district court was correct in stating "There is nothing from the evidence that the Court could even glean that there was a malicious act by the Defendants in this case." App. 441. Angela Bonlander testified she followed Society Insurance's standard operating procedure in processing the request for surgery and the approval of that surgery and payment. App. 337. Society Insurance submitted Dr. Milas's bill to its third-party bill reviewer, HSI. Like all bills sent to HSI from Society Insurance, HSI reviewed the bill and returned with an amount Society Insurance should pay. App. 341. Society Insurance then paid Dr. Milas that amount. App. 370. Angela Bonlander testified Dr. Milas was treated like all other authorized doctors. App. 328. There was no actual malice towards Dr. Milas on the part of

Society Insurance. Instead the matter was handled in accordance with the policies and practices of Society Insurance. App. 378.

Dr. Milas contends Society Insurance acted with legal malice. This is not supported by the evidence. Angela Bonlander testified she did not know at the time of reviewing Dr. Milas's bill that she could bypass the bill review process. App. 329. Dr. Milas argues Society Insurance was focused solely on year-end bonuses instead of Mr. Fitzgerald's surgery. This is not true. Dr. Milas was authorized to perform the surgery. No one disputes that the surgery was necessary. Angela testified this interaction with Dr. Milas had nothing to do with any bonus she received. Trial Trans. p. 386 Lines 4-8. If a medical provider has concerns over the amounts they have been paid, there are processes to address any concerns. App. 346-47. Society Insurance does not prevent patients from receiving prompt medical care, as authorized treating doctors do not need Society's permission to engage in treatment. App. 364.

Because the summary judgment on Dr. Milas's fraudulent misrepresentation claim was properly granted, there can be no award of punitive damages. Society Insurance did not act with actual or legal malice towards Dr. Milas.

III. **JUDGE** LATHAM **ACTED IMPARTIALLY** AND IN WITH ETHICAL STANDARDS TIMES. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING **PLAINTIFF'S MOTION** TO HAVE JUDGE LATHAM RECUSED.

Scope and Standard of Review

The appellee agrees the appellant preserved error on this issue except for the issue of Judge Latham's impartiality toward Dr. Milas presented under subheading D of Dr. Milas's brief.

The court reviews a "judge's recusal decision for an abuse of discretion." *State v. Millsap*, 704 N.W.2d 426, 432 (Iowa 2005).

Dr. Milas has the burden of showing grounds for the recusal. *Campbell v. Quad Cities Times*, 547 N.W.2d 608, 611 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996). "A judge should disqualify himself or herself in a proceeding in which the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned." Iowa Rule of Judicial Conduct 51:2.11(A). There is a constitutional right to a neutral and detached judge, yet mere speculation as to judicial bias is insufficient to prove grounds for recusal. *State v. Mann*, 512 N.W.2d 528, 532 (Iowa 1994). Dr. Milas must show actual prejudice before recusal is necessary. *McKinley v. Iowa Dist. Ct.*, 542 N.W.2d 822, 827 (Iowa 1996).

In deciding whether to recuse or not, a judge must consider "whether reasonable persons with knowledge of all facts would conclude that the

judge's impartiality might be questioned." *Mann*, 512 N.W.2d at 532. "[T]here is as much obligation for a judge not to recuse when there is no occasion for him to do so as there is for him to do so when there is." *Id*.

On appeal, Dr. Milas asserts Judge Latham engaged in ex parte communications with Defendant's counsel, was hostile towards Dr. Milas, committed an "evidentiary error" in favor of the defendant, and had an "unfavorable predisposition" to Dr. Milas's counsel. Each claim will be addressed in turn.

A. The Alleged Ex Parte Communication Involved An Administrative Matter Prior To Opening Statements And Was Proper Under The Iowa Rules Of Judicial Conduct.

The alleged communication did take place. However, Dr. Milas's summary of the conversation does not provide context or include the full discussion of what the alleged communication addressed.

The communication did not concern the merits of the case. Instead, the comments were to alert the court to a matter that would need to be addressed prior to opening statements. This type of communication is allowed under Iowa Code of Judicial Conduct Rule 51:2.9. The rule states

ex parte communication for scheduling . . . which does not address substantive matters, is permitted, provided: ... (b)the judges makes provision promptly to notify all other parties of the substance of the ex parte communication and give the parties an opportunity to respond.

Iowa Rule of Judicial Conduct 51:2.9(A)(1)(b).

The alleged ex parte exchange happened in open court and was acknowledged on the record and is memorialized in the hearing transcript. Specifically, the Court states, "Mr. Cook, you would like to make a record. And the record should reflect we are outside the presence of the jury, both counsel are present." App. 280. Society Insurance's counsel then proceeded to address the issue of Plaintiff's proposed demonstrative exhibits. Id. Dr. Milas's counsel was provided an opportunity to respond in opening court regarding the matter. Id. The statement did not affect the case or the merits of the proceedings. In accordance with the rule, the court allowed both parties to be heard on this issued. Iowa Rule of Judicial Conduct 51:2.9(A)(1)(b); see generally State v. Wilder, No. 03-1664, 2006 WL 1896247, at *8 (Iowa Ct. App. July 12, 2006) ("the prosecutor's request for a continuance was heard in open court, with an opportunity for defense counsel to respond."). When addressed during the hearing on the motion to recuse a full discussion occurred. The full discussion of the alleged ex parte communication provides:

The Court: That was a simple remark by Mr. Cook that he wanted to make a record prior to beginning with opening statements. It was basically an administrative comment. There was nothing of substance that was offered. And, Mr. Cook, I would invite you to further comment on that, if you would like.

Mr. Cook: Yes, Your Honor. That's exactly correct. I merely asked the Court to make a record regarding an issue of demonstrative exhibits that the Plaintiff attorney intended to use in opening statement and alerted the Court administratively that we needed to take up the matter before the Court and counsel. That was it. There was no discussion of the merits, no genuine ex-parte communication other than alerting the Court that there was an issue for the Court to address without addressing the merits of the issue.

App. 303.

The district court acted within the Iowa Rules of Judicial Conduct.

The statement was not an ex parte communication and no reasonable person would conclude that the judge's impartiality was affected.

B. A Reasonable Person Would Not Find Judge Latham's Statement That He Was Uncomfortable with Dr. Milas Staring At Him To Effect Judge Latham's Impartiality.

Society Insurance does not agree that this issue was preserved as it was not addressed by the district court. The motion to recuse and request for interlocutory appeal were made and ruled on prior to the statement made by Judge Latham in the November 2016 trial and Dr. Milas did not object to the statement. *In re Marriage of Haecker & Blomme*, No. 13-1876, 2015 WL 4642088, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 5, 2015) (Plaintiff "did not . . . object to the comments he found offensive, or raise the bias issue at any stage of the trial. Accordingly, we conclude the issue was not preserved for our review.").

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